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Before MAG LL, GOODW N, and MURPHY, Circuit Judges.

MURPHY, Circuit Judge.

WlliamD. Alpern and Russell D. MIller filed this securities fraud
suit against WiliCorp United Inc. (WiliCorp) on behal f of thensel ves and
simlarly situated stock purchasers. Enployees of a second-tier subsidiary
of UtiliCorp reportedly nisappropriated some twenty-one nmillion dollars
begi nning in Septenber 1990. The m sappropriations were not publicly
revealed by UtiliCorp until June 1992, along with a $11.6 mllion charge
agai nst its second-quarter earnings and an anticipated $5.2 nmillion | oss.
Al pern and MIler claimthat UtiliCorp knew or shoul d have known of the

"The HONORABLE ALFRED T. GOODWN, United States Circuit
Judge for the Nnth Grcuit, sitting by designation.



materi al m sappropriations by at | east Novenber 1991, when it commenced its
internal investigation, and that certain financial statenents nmade prior
to its June 1992 disclosure were nmisleading. 1In a series of orders, the
district court declined to certify a class, dismssed all clains, and
denied two notions for reconsideration. Al pern and MIIler now appeal from
the judgnment entered in the district court and fromthe order denying their
noti ons for reconsideration. W affirmin part, reverse in part, and
r enmand.

UiliCorp is a public utility conpany which wholly owns a subsidiary
called Aquila Energy Corporation (Aquila Ommha), located in Omaha,
Nebr aska. Aquila Oraha in turn owns a subsidiary nanmed Aquila Energy
Resources Corporation (Aquila), fornmed in 1989 to acquire oil and gas
reserves and gathering and processing systens. Aquila is headquartered in
Omha and has an office in Houston, Texas.

Appellants Alpern and MIler sued as holders of UWiliCorp conmon
stock. Russell MIler purchased 200 shares on the open market on Novenber
13, 1991. WIliam Al pern nade open nmarket purchases for approximtely two
years before joining UtiliCorp's Dividend Reinvestnent and Stock Purchase
Plan (the DRIP plan). This plan allows participants to reinvest cash
di vidend paynents fromtheir conmon stock at a price discounted fromthe
mar ket price. Alpern reinvested his dividends in return for nore shares
seven tinmes between Septenber 12, 1990 and March 12, 1992.2 He asserts he
made t hese investnent decisions based on a Septenber 4, 1990 prospectus
about the DRIP plan, incorporated by UiliCorp's

2Al pern purchased shares of UtiliCorp stock at the
di scounted DRI P price on Septenber 12, 1990, Decenber 12, 1990,
March 12, 1991, June 12, 1991, Septenber 12, 1991, Decenber 12,
1991, and March 12, 1992.



August 14, 1990 registration statenent, and on subsequent financial updates
fromthe conpany on Septenber 12, 1990, Decenber 12, 1990, March 12, 1991,
June 12, 1991, Septenber 12, 1991, Decenber 12, 1991, and March 12, 1992.

Appel l ants contend that two Aquila officers, Vincent F. Marquez, Jr.
and Richard D. Stegall, enbezzled conpany funds from Septenber 1, 1990
until they were fired in early 1992. During this tine, Marquez served as
vice president of Aquila in Houston and as a nenber of Aquila's board of
directors. Richard D. Stegall was Aquila's vice president in charge of
acqui sitions and a nmenber of its board of directors.

UiliCorp acquired Aquila Omaha in 1986, and the latter's rapid
growth led to internal control problens and reported enpl oyee m sconduct.
In June 1988, an Aquila QOraha enpl oyee naned Lyn Maddox wrote a nenorandum
to Marc Petersen, president of both Aquila Omha and Aquila, stating that
i nvestrrents | acked conpl et e docunentation and required better nanagenent.
Maddox was fired a nonth |ater. In an exit interview on July 28, 1988
with UtiliCorp's chairman and chief executive officer, Richard G een,
Maddox and Green discussed these internal control problens and an all eged
ki ck-back schene on an Aquila Onaha project. Petersen had fired the four
enpl oyees allegedly involved, but Mddox told Geen that Petersen had
instructed himto keep qui et about the incident.

On Cctober 29, 1991, long after Middox had been fired, he again
informed Wili Corp nmanagenent about reported ki ckbacks and bidrigging, this
time occurring at Aquila's offices in Houston. Maddox said his information
cane froma WiliCorp shareholder naned JimWal zel. UiliCorp also |earned
that a fornmer Aquila enployee nanmed Sheila MDonald could have further
related information and that Vince Marquez coul d have been a silent partner
in a Houston conpany that had done business wi th Aquil a.



UiliCorp immediately hired a private investigative firmnanmed R sk
Prevention Group, Inc. (RPG. RPGtalked with Wl zel on Novenber 1, 1991
and with his source, Jim Sheeler, on Novenber 6. Sheel er, an off-shore
servi ces conpany owner who had previously submtted an unsuccessful bid for
an Aquila project, had been told that soneone had overheard Marquez telling
another bidder that "If | get ny condo, you get the bid" (the bidder
reportedly agreed). In addition, Sheeler had noted that Marquez had
recently paid for an extravagant weddi ng and reception in Hawaii

Upon receiving this information, UtiliCorp CEO Richard Green net on
Novenber 11 with Gail Hudek, a partner at Blackwel| Sanders NMatheny Wary
& Lonbardi L.C. (Blackwell), UtiliCorp's long-tinme outside law firm and
counsel for it in the case before the court. Geen told Hudek to talk with
Aquila president Marc Petersen, and she interviewed him on Novenber 22.
Petersen did not believe that Mirquez was involved in inappropriate
activity and specul ated that Sheila MDonal d was the possible source of the
i nf or mati on. Efforts to contact MDonal d continued throughout Decenber
she was finally located in Houston and interviewed by Hudek on January 8,
1992.

According to MDonald, "Marquez was engaged in self-dealing on a
| arge scale, including the receipts of kickbacks on operations contracts
and property acquisitions."” She described in detail how Marquez obtai ned
authority fromAquila to purchase a property based on an inflated report
of the oil and gas reserves it held, used a mddl enan to negotiate a | ower
price with the seller, and then split the difference with the m ddl eman
bet ween the purchase price and the approved price. MDonald estimated that
the | osses ranged between thirty and ninety mllion dollars and had grossly
inflated the real value of Aquila's assets.

After Hudek inforned Green and other Utili Corp managenent on January
13, 1992 of McDonald's disclosures, UWiliCorp greatly



expanded the scope and size of its investigation. Benjanmin Mann, a
Bl ackwel | partner, headed the investigative team conprised of several
Bl ackwel | attorneys, Arthur Andersen accountants, and UtiliCorp officers.
They interviewed current and forner Aquila enpl oyees and revi ened t housands
of docunents. UtiliCorp's investigators discovered further evidence of
wrongdoi ng during the next few weeks. Sonetine before January 20, 1992,
Lynn Marquez, a fornmer wife of Vince Marquez, produced several cancelled
checks totalling approximately $90,000, made out to Vincent Marquez and
signed by a principal in several conpanies that had done business with
Aqui | a Houston. Mann concl uded that these checks constituted evidence of
a kickback to Vincent Marquez. Arthur Andersen also inforned UtiliCorp on
January 27, 1992, that the vice president in charge of Houston operations,
or soneone i mediately below him had transferred | arge anounts of nobney
wi t hout cl ear authorization.

Bl ackwel | submtted a witten report of its findings to UtiliCorp on
January 22, 1992. It concluded that "significant evidence of w ongdoing
and irregularities" by Marquez clearly provided Utili Corp managenent with
a sufficient legal basis to termnate him Moreover, it advised that the
evi dence was "so strongly indicative of not nerely irregular but illega
conduct that [WiliCorp] nmanagenent is nearly conpelled or obligated, based
on its fiduciary responsibility to the Conpany and its shareholders, to
term nate Marquez." Blackwell simlarly concluded that discharge of Aquila
president Marc Petersen would be legally justified based on his significant
managenent deficiencies, especially given his prior managenent probl ens.
UiliCorp fired Marquez two days |ater and repri manded Petersen. 3

Bl ackwel | updated its findings in a January 29, 1992 report. It
again stated that there was "substantial circunstanti al

3Pet ersen was relieved of his duties in February 1992 and
fired in Decenber 1992.



evidence" indicating that Marquez was receiving kickbacks, including
numerous irregularities regarding mddlenen and |ack of docunentation.
Bl ackwel | estimated that the anmbunt of kickbacks could range up to four to
five mllion dollars, but noted that conpany accountants and outside
auditors did not believe this anmobunt needed to be reported.

In the nmeantine, during the fall and winter, Wili Corp conducted four
public offerings and issued nunerous financial statenents of record
earnings and growmh. Five mllion shares of WiliCorp conmon stock were
sold at $26 per share on Cctober 29, 1991. Two days later, UtiliCorp
announced that third quarter financial results exceeded those from the
previous year and that continued growh was expected. Approxinmately $150
mllion of unsecured senior notes were sold at a coupon rate of nine
percent on Novenber 19, 1991.

Decenber and early January public statenents simlarly enphasized
UiliCorp's strong financial status. UiliCorp's press rel ease on Decenber
19, 1991 predicted "record financial results for both the fourth quarter
and 1991" and also noted Aquila's dramatic grow h. Ri chard Green
proclainmed WiliCorp's perfornance to be "another nilestone," attributing
the success to the conpany's growth strategy. On January 3, 1992,
UiliCorp estimated that fourth quarter net income for 1991 woul d be up
$4.5 million fromthe sane period the previous year.

On January 22, 1992, UiliCorp began its third public offering,
i ssuing $130 mllion of senior notes due January 15, 2007, priced to yield
8.20% On January 30, 1992, UWili Corp announced that its 1991 net incone
had increased 25% to $73.5 mllion, which Geen stated, "further
denonstrates the soundness of UtiliCorp's growh strategy which calls for

reducing risk through expansi on. Aquila's 1991 growh was al so

reported in conjunction with its continued strategic acquisitions. This



statement was nade about the sane tine that UiliCorp filed a registration
statenent with the SEC relating to a fourth public offering of up to $25
mllion in preferred stock which was conpleted in February 1992.

By March 11, 1992, UtiliCorp's investigation team had reported the
estimated | oss to be between eight and eleven mllion dollars. At the sane
time, WiliCorp's financial report on March 18 continued to report record
earnings for 1991, noting it was the ninth consecutive year of record net
incone and attributing part of its success to Aquila. A simlar report was
filed on May 13. UiliCorp did not publicly disclose its investigation or
any misappropriation until June 15, 1992.

Alpern filed his first conplaint on June 17, 1992, two days after
UiliCorp's public disclosure. He alleged, on behalf of a class of
UiliCorp common stock purchasers during the period fromJanuary 30 through
June 15, 1992, that WiliCorp had violated § 10(b) of the 1934 Securities
Act, 15 U. S.C. § 78j, and Rule 10b-5, by fraudul ently conceal i ng adverse
material information in order to maintain inflated stock prices. After the
June 1992 announcenent, Utili Corp stock declined from $28. 13 per share on
June 12, to $23.63 on June 15, and then to $22.88 on June 16.

On August 6, 1992, Alpern filed an anmended conpl ai nt whi ch enl arged
the class period for the 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 clains to include Septenber
1, 1990 through June 15, 1992. He al so added a claimunder &8 11 of the
1933 Securities Act, 15 U S.C. §8 77k, on behalf of a subclass of persons
who purchased UtiliCorp common stock through its DRIP plan based on
UiliCorp's Septenber 4, 1990 prospectus and its financial updates on one
or nore of the follow ng dates: Sept enber 12, 1990, Decenber 12, 1990,
March 12, 1991, June 12, 1991, Septenber 12, 1991, Decenber 12, 1991, and



March 12, 1992.

The district court dismssed the first conplaint on July 20, 1993,
for failure to plead scienter wth particularity, as required by
Fed. R Gv.P. 9(b). The conplaint was reinstated on Novenber 3, however,
after appellants filed a notion for relief fromthe judgnent based on newy
di scovered evidence suggesting that UiliCorp knew about t he
m sappropriations four nonths prior to its public disclosure.* The court
granted the notion, stating that Al pern "should be given an opportunity to
nmake use of the discovery process to support the allegation of scienter."

Alpern and Ml ler then filed a second anended conpl ai nt on Decenber
6, 1993. Count | alleged the 8 11 claim and Count Il alleged the § 10(b)
and Rule 10b-5 clains. On March 30, 1994, they noved to certify the
8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 class and the 8 11 subcl ass.

On May 9, 1994, UWiliCorp noved for dismissal or summary judgnent on
the 8 11 claim for summary judgnent on MIller's §8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
claim and for partial summary judgnent on Al pern's 8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
clains. (The notion sought dismissal of Alpern's claimfor affirnmative
m sstatenents, but not his claim for material omssions.) The parties
di scussed a possible settlement during the next few nonths, but the
district

“Thi s evi dence consi sted of docunents indicating know edge
as early as February 1992. On an insurance claimform dated
July 27, 1992, UtiliCorp noted a potential claimagainst its
crime policies based on kickbacks to enpl oyees. |Its manager of
admnistration wote on the formthat know edge of the
m sappropriation "first canme to nme" on February 12, 1992,
al though the formalso states that UtiliCorp discovered the
m sappropriations on May 15, 1992. Mnutes froma February 4,
1992 neeting of UtiliCorp's audit conmttee reflected that the
director of internal audit reported that Utili Corp was
investigating a situation at Aquila "involv[ing] a senior
enpl oyee who was di sm ssed for inappropriate dealings when
pur chasi ng reserves for Aquila Energy."

8



court denied their joint notion for a pre-trial conference to further these
negotiations and suspend briefing. Alpern and MIller subsequently
submtted their suggestions in opposition to UiliCorp's notion for sunmary
judgnent on July 22.

On August 23, 1994, UtiliCorp's counsel notified appellants that
further information relating to the m sappropriation was avail able and that
certain depositions needed to be reschedul ed. The parties then noved
jointly to extend the end of discovery from Septenber 30 to Cctober 31; the
notion was grant ed.

On Cctober 31, UWiliCorp noved for sunmary judgnent on Al pern's
remai ning 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claimfor om ssions. It argued that it
had relied in good faith on its legal and financial advisors that
di scl osure was not required prior to June 15, 1992, and that scienter
therefore did not exist prior to Alpern's |last stock purchase on March 12,
1992.

Two weeks after the revised di scovery deadline, on Novenber 14, 1994,
the district court issued two orders. The first dealt with the notion for
di smissal or summary judgnent filed in May. The court granted sunmary
judgnent on Mller's claim on the ground that the earliest date the
evidence could establish UiliCorp's scienter was Decenber 1991,° and
M1l er had purchased his stock before then, on Novenber 13, 1991. Summary
j udgnent was also granted on Alpern's claim for affirmative
nm srepresentations because he had not shown any m sstatenents between
Decenber 1991

°A June 19, 1992 Kansas City Star newspaper article had
reported that UtiliCorp knew of "the problens at the [Utili Corp]
subsidiary" in Decenber 1991. The other evidence in the record
pertaining to scienter consisted of the February 4, 1992 m nutes
of a UiliCorp Audit Commttee neeting; the July 27, 1992
insurance claimformstating that UtiliCorp's Manager of
Adm nistration first | earned about the m sappropriation on
February 12, 1992; Marquez's discharge date of January 24, 1992
and Stegall's discharge date of February 24, 1992.
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and his last stock purchase in March 1992. Finally, the court granted
sumary judgment on Alpern's 8 11 claim Since Al pern's highest purchase
price was |less than the stock's value on the date he added this claim
(August 6, 1992), the court concluded that he had suffered no § 11 danmmages.
As a result of this order, only Alpern's 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claimfor
mat eri al omi ssions renained in the case.

A conpani on order denied the notion for class certification because
nost of the 8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 clains and the 8§ 11 claim had been
dismssed, and Alpern's remaining claimfor material om ssions was said to
be atypical of clains by a class of open market purchasers.

The next day, UtiliCorp offered Al pern $368.36 as paynent for the
stock he had purchased on March 12, 1992. Al pern refused to accept paynent
because of his fiduciary duty to the proposed class. On Novenber 22, 1994,
UtiliCorp noved to disnmiss as noot the remaining 8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
claim for omssions, arguing that its tendered offer represented the
nmaxi nrum anmount of relief Al pern could recover. The district court agreed
and ordered paynent delivered to the clerk of the court in satisfaction of
Al pern's claim

The case was closed in the district court pursuant to an order for
judgnent issued on January 6, 1995. This order incorporated the Novenber
14, 1994 orders, granted UiliCorp's notion to dismss the case pursuant
to Fed. R Gv.P.12(b)(1), and denied as noot its notion for sunmary judgnent
as to Alpern's onissions claim

Meanwhi | e, on Novenber 28, 1994, shortly after the Novenber 14 orders
for summary judgnent and denial of class certification, MIler and Al pern
had filed two notions for reconsideration. MIler sought reinstatenent of
his &8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claim

10



pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2),® clainming that newy discovered evidence
indicated WiliCorp had scienter prior to his Novenber 1991 stock purchase.
Al pern sought reinstatenent of his affirmative m sstatenents clai m pursuant
to Rule 60(a)” and Rule 60(b)(2), claimng that a typographical error in
the conplaint was the basis on which partial sunmary judgnent had been
granted and that there now was sufficient evidence to wthstand that
motion. Mller and Al pern al so sought to vacate the order denying class
certification. They mmintained that their clains had been inproperly
di sm ssed on summary judgnent and that Al pern's 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
claimwas typical of the clains of open market purchasers.

The district court denied both notions in a single order issued on
April 17, 1995. The court rejected consideration of the appellants'
evi dence that allegedly established UtiliCorp's scienter prior to stock
purchases by MIller and Alpern on the basis that it was not newy
di scovered within the neaning of Rule 60(b)(2). It also refused to pernit
correction of the typographical error in the second anended conplaint,
which alleged misstatenents by UiliCorp in its announcenent of record
results in a statenment of January 1991, instead of in January 1992. The
court concluded that Rule 60(a) relief was not required because
identification of the correct date of the announcenment woul d not affect the
i ssue of scienter, and because UiliCorp's tendered offer had satisfied
Al pern's damage claim W thout discussion, the court also denied the
nmotion for relief fromits order denying class certification

®Rul e 60(b)(2) provides for relief froma final judgnent
based on "new y di scovered evidence which by due diligence could
not have been discovered in tinme to nove for a new trial under
Rule 59(b)." Fed.R Cv.P. 60(b)(2).

'Rul e 60(a) provides that "[c]lerical mistakes in judgnents,
orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising
from oversight or om ssion may be corrected by the court at any
time of its owmn initiative or on the notion of any party and
after such notice, if any, as the court orders.” Fed.R Cv.P.
60(a) .
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Alpern and MIller filed two appeals, which are both before the court,
one fromthe January 6, 1995 judgnment entered against them and another
fromthe April 17, 1995 denial of their notions for reconsideration. They
claimthat they should have been pernitted to represent the class, that
there were issues of material fact precluding sunmary judgnent, and that
they were entitled to relief under Rule 60.

In Count Il, Alpern and MIler alleged violations of § 10(b) of the
1934 Securities Act, 15 U S.C. § 78j, and Rule 10b-5. They cl ai ned that
they, and the class they sought to represent, had detrinentally relied on
UiliCorp's reckless or knowingly fal se statenents or om ssions of nateri al
facts concerning the msappropriations, which artificially inflated the
mar ket price of its stock throughout the class period.

Congress enacted the 1934 Act in order to pronote full disclosure and
t hereby protect investors against mani pul ati on of stock prices. See Basic
Inc. v. lLevinson, 485 U S. 224, 230 (1988). "There cannot be honest
markets wi t hout honest publicity. Manipulation and di shonest practices of

the nmarket place thrive upon nystery and secrecy." |d. (citation omtted).
Section 10(b) specifically prohibits the use of any "manipulative or
deceptive device or contrivance" in connection with the purchase or sale
of a security. 15 U. S.C. 8§ 78j(b); Herman & Maclean v. Huddl eston, 459
U S. 375, 382 (1983).

Rul e 10b-5, pronulgated by the Securities and Exchange Conmi ssion
under its 8 10(b) authority, provides that it is unlawful "for any person,
directly or indirectly,"

(a) To enploy any device, schene, or artifice to defraud,

12



(b) To nmake any untrue statenent of a material fact or to omt to
state a material fact necessary in order to nake the statenents nade,
in the light of the circunstances under which they were nade, not
m sl eadi ng, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in
the connection with the purchase or sale of any security.

17 CF. R § 240.10b-5 (1995).

Standing under 8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 requires a showing of (1)
m srepresentations or onmi ssions of material fact or acts that operated as
a fraud or deceit; (2) causation, often analyzed in terns of materiality
and reliance; (3) dammges; and (4) fraudulent activity occurring in
connection with the purchase and sale of a security. 17 CF. R § 240.10b-
5; Harris v. Union Elec. Co., 787 F.2d 355, 362 (8th Gr.), cert. den., 479
US 823 (1986). A fact is material if it is substantially likely "that
the disclosure of the omtted fact woul d have been vi ewed by the reasonabl e

investor as having significantly altered the "total mx' of information
made available." Basic Inc., 435 U S. at 231-32 (citation omtted); see
also Harris, 787 F.2d at 366. This determination requires assessnent of

the inferences a reasonabl e sharehol der "would draw from a given set of
facts and the significance of those inferences to him" TSC Industries,
Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U S. 438, 450 (1976).

Scienter is not explicitly required by the statutory text, but it is
an acknow edged essential elenent of a § 10(b) or Rule 10b-5 claim See
Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U. S. 185, 193 (1976); Harris, 787 F.2d at
362. Scienter may be established by proof of knowing or intentional

practices to deceive, nanipulate, or defraud. Harris, 787 F.2d at 362
Negligence is not sufficient, Hochfelder, 425 U S. at 215, but this circuit
follows the majority rule that reckl essness also satisfies the scienter
requirenent.
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Van Dyke v. Coburn Enterprises, Inc., 873 F.2d 1094, 1100 (8th G r. 1989).
If the defendants "stated untrue facts with reckless disregard for their

truth or falsity," there is scienter. |d.

A

The timing of WiliCorp's disclosures and the date when scienter
m ght be established are key issues in this case, and rel ated di scovery is
of inportance in its procedural history.

UiliCorp's initial set of discovery answers did not reveal when it
| earned of Marquez's alleged kickback schenme or began its internal
investigation. In response to appellants' first request for docunents on
Decenber 29, 1993, UtiliCorp produced sone eighty boxes of materials for
copying in March 1994, Anong these docunents turned over in March were two
requests for greater autonony from Marc Petersen, Aquila's president, to
CEO Green in 1990, and mnutes fromtwo UiliCorp Audit Conmittee neetings
in April and May of 1991, at which Price Waterhouse reported internal
control problens at the Aquila branches.

On May 9, 1994, UtiliCorp noved for sunmary judgnent on all clains
except for Alpern's 8 10(b) and Rul e 10b-5 omi ssions claim Throughout the
next few nonths, the parties concentrated on extensive settlenent
negotiations. They jointly noved on June 23 for a pretrial conference and
to postpone all briefing until after the conference. After the court
denied the notion, appellants filed their suggestions in opposition to
UiliCorp's sunmary judgnent notion on July 22.

Appel lants finished reviewing the docunents obtained in March
sonetine in August 1994, and schedul ed depositions of Richard Green and
Harry L. Wnn, Jr., UiliCorp's chief financial officer, for the second
week of Septenber. They al so served docunent requests and subpoenas on
UiliCorp's director of internal audit, David A
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Sisel; the forner chairman of WiliCorp's audit conmittee, Harry Wnn; and
UiliCorp's lead investigator at Arthur Andersen, Barbara Buganier, and
Benjanmin Mnn at Bl ackwell. On August 23, 1994, UiliCorp inforned
appel l ants that the Septenber depositions would have to be reschedul ed.
It also promised to disclose by the following week materials about its
internal investigation of enbezzlenent at Aquila and sone Arthur Andersen
docunents. Based on this unexpected turn of events, at the parties' joint
request, the district court extended discovery from Septenber 30 until
Cct ober 31.

UiliCorp's promi sed disclosures did not occur until Septenber 9 and
Cct ober 6. On these dates it produced thousands of docunents. These
docunents disclosed for the first tinme that WiliCorp had hired a private
investigation firmand contacted Bl ackwel| attorneys in early Novenber 1991
to investigate the ki ckback all egations agai nst Marquez. Appellants al so
now discovered Blackwell's January 22, 1992 nenorandum to Uili Corp,
witten by Benjanin Mann and two ot her attorneys, advising that Marquez be
di scharged due to his illegal conduct, Arthur Andersen's January 27, 1992
letter to WiliCorp discussing large and possibly unauthorized wre
transfers at Aquila in Houston, and Lyn Maddox's 1988 discussions with
Ri chard Green about Aquila's internal control problens and all eged ki ckback
schenme in the Omaha office.

Appel I ants began the process of sorting through these docunents, and
during OCctober 1994 they deposed several nenbers of UWiliCorp's
i nvestigation team Depositions were taken of Benjamin Mann, the |ead
i nvestigator at Blackwell, on Cctober 12; David Sisel, WiliCorp's director
of internal audit, on Cctober 18; Harry Wnn, UiliCorp's chief financial
of ficer, on Cctober 27; and Barbara J. Buganier, a partner and certified
fraud exam ner at Arthur Andersen, on COctober 28. MIller also served his
first interrogatories to UtiliCorp on Cctober 28.
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None of the information disclosed during this second wave of
di scovery or in the Cctober depositions was before the district court when
it issued its sunmary judgnent order on Novenber 14, 1994, two weeks after
di scovery had been scheduled to end.® The court based its understanding
of the case upon WiliCorp's stated version of the facts. Appellants had
failed to include in their opposition to the notion a list of disputed
material facts as required by Local Rule 13(G, and the court indicated it
woul d consider only those facts which had support in the record. The only
docunments pertaining to scienter in the record at that tinme were those
whi ch had pronpted the reinstatenent of Al pern's conplaint on Decenber 6,
1993. The summary judgnment decision was therefore based entirely on
evi dence produced before the schedul ed di scovery period began

Two weeks after issuance of the summary judgnent order, appellants
filed a nmotion for reconsideration. They attached docunents obtained
t hrough di scovery which they clained established WiliCorp's scienter prior
to MIler's stock purchase on Novenber 13, 1991 and Al pern's purchase in
March 1992. The district court declined to reconsider its order granting
summary judgnment on the grounds that the evidence presented in the notion
was not newly discovered within the neaning of Rule 60(b)(2).

The court al so denied Alpern relief under Rule 60(a) even though it
recogni zed the existence of a typographical error in the conplaint, which
had referred to January 30, 1991, instead of 1992, as the date of a key
UiliCorp financial statenent. Correction would have been irrelevant, it
reasoned, because the correction could not have nade a difference in the
earliest scienter date given the nature of the record at the tinme sunmmary
j udgnent was

8Thi s deadl i ne had been set in August 1994, prior to the
production of thousands of docunents by UtiliCorp in Septenber
and QOct ober 1994.
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granted. |In addition, the court concluded that Al pern could not recover
damages for his March 1992 purchase because Uili Corp had al ready tendered
a check to the court for that purchase upon the court's dismssal of
Al pern's om ssions claim

A party is entitled to relief under Rule 60(b)(2) froman order of
summary judgnent where (1) the evidence was discovered after the summary
judgnent hearing; (2) the noving party exercised due diligence to discover
the evidence; (3) the evidence is material and not nerely cunulative or
i npeachi ng; and (4) a new hearing considering the evidence woul d probably
produce a different result. Callanan v. Runyun, 75 F.3d 1293, 1297 (8th
Cir. 1996). The district court determned that Alpern and MIler failed
to neet the first and second criteria (although there had been no summary

j udgnent hearing). It noted that appellants had obtained the evidence
before the court issued its summary judgnent order, and concl uded that
UiliCorp's allegedly untinmely production of the docunments did not excuse
the appellants' lack of due diligence in locating the evidence. W review
the district court's denial of a Rule 60(b) notion for abuse of discretion

I d.

A party nust have a justifiable excuse for tinely failing to oppose
a motion for summary judgnent if it had sufficient opportunity to subnit
the evidence prior to a ruling on the notion. See Love v. Commerce Bank
of St. Louis, NA, 37 F.3d 1295, 1296 (8th Cr. 1994). Here, appellants
concede that they possessed the new docunents a few weeks prior to the

summary judgment order, but they argue that they | acked sufficient tine to
anal yze and submit the evidence.

UiliCorp did not disclose several of these docurments until sone four

nonths after it had filed for summary judgnment and about two nonths after
appel l ants had filed their opposition to the
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sunmary judgnent notion. UiliCorp had filed its notion for summary
judgnent in May 1994, and appellants responded in July 1994. UtiliCorp
wai ted until Septenber and Cctober 1994, however, before produci ng sone key
docunents pertaining to its investigation of the nisappropriations. These
materials, which appellants attached to their notion for reconsideration,
di sclosed that UtiliCorp's investigation began in early Novenber 1991,
instead of in January 1992, as appellants had been previously led to
believe. Al so buried anobng the thousands of docunents produced at this
time were Blackwell's January 22, 1992 nenorandum advi sing Marquez's
term nati on and Arthur Andersen's January 27, 1992 letter concerning | arge
and possi bly unauthorized wire transfers at Aquila Houston. Both of these
docunents were also subnmitted with the notion for reconsideration.

Not only were appellants sorting through and analyzing these
materials turned over at this late date, but they were al so conducting
deposi tions throughout Cctober based on the new discovery. For exanple,
t hey deposed Benjami n Mann, Blackwell's |ead investigator and an aut hor of
the January 22, 1992 neno, on Cctober 12; David A Sisel, UWiliCorp's
director of internal audit, on Cctober 18; and Barbara Buganier, Arthur
Andersen's head partner on the investigation team on Cctober 28.

Appel l ants al so attached to the notion for reconsideration certain
docunments produced by UiliCorp in March 1994, the relevance of which
becane clearer as a result of the Cctober disclosures. These included two
1990 nenoranda from Aquila president Marc Peterson to WiliCorp CEO Richard
Green, asking for greater nmanagenent authority. Appel | ants further
included mnutes fromtwo 1991 WiliCorp Audit Committee neetings, at which
Price Waterhouse reported that internal control problens and a record
keepi ng deficiency at Aquila were being addressed by additional qualified
staff. Appellants argue that because G een knew about these problens, he
knew or shoul d have known as of |ate COctober
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1991 that the allegations agai nst Marquez were of a serious nature.

Appellants were collating all of this information when Utili Corp
filed, on Cctober 31, 1994, a second notion for summary judgnent as to
Al pern's renmaining onissions claim Appellants were planning to present
a single submi ssion of the evidence to the district court on the pending
nmoti ons when the order granting WiliCorp's first notion for summary
judgnent was issued, just two weeks after the close of the schedul ed
di scovery peri od.

The timing of UiliCorp's disclosures about its internal
investigation and its results inpeded appellants' ability to process and
present the information prior to the court's ruling. |t also undercut the
pur pose of discovery, which is to enable parties to obtain the factual
i nformation needed to prepare their cases for disposition. As the district
court recognized earlier in the litigation, unearthing proof of scienter
was especially difficult in this case because direct evidence had to cone
primarily fromWiliCorp. See, e.q., Costello, Porter, Hll, Heisterkanp
& Bushnell v. Providers Fidelity Life Ins. Co., 958 F.2d 836, 838-39 (8th
Cir. 1992) (greater latitude permssible where information needed to

respond to summary judgnent notion is likely to be in npbvant's sole
possession); Xerox Corp. v. Gennpora Corp., 888 F.2d 345, 354 (5th Cr.
1989) (discovery essential because sharehol der's proof of wongdoi ng nust

cone entirely from the defendant ex-directors); Gary Plastic Packaging
Corp. v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 756 F.2d 230, 236
(2nd G r. 1985) (discovery rules should be applied liberally so litigant

may secure hel pful evidence from adversary).

Under the circunstances here, WiliCorp's del ayed disclosures shoul d
not be viewed as a lack of due diligence on the part of appellants, thereby
precluding consideration of this evidence under Rule 60(b)(2). Si nce
appel l ants have presented a justifiable excuse for not submtting the
evi dence prior to the summary
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judgnent ruling, they are entitled to relief if the evidence is nmateri al
not nerely cunul ative or inpeaching, and woul d probably produce a different
result. See Love, 37 F.3d at 1296; Callanan, 75 F.3d at 1297.

As di scussed above, the evidence submtted on reconsideration
revealed for the first tine when and how UtiliCorp |earned about the
all egations of wongdoing by Mirquez, the tinmng and scope of its
subsequent investigation, and when and what information it di scovered as
aresult. This evidence is material both for the appellants' case on the
i ssue of scienter and for WiliCorp's defense of good faith reliance on its
| egal and financial advisors about when public disclosure becane necessary.

The final factor is whether consideration of this evidence at a new
hearing on WiliCorp's notion for sumary judgnment woul d probably produce
a different result. See Callanan, 75 F.3d at 1297. Summary judgnent is

appropriate if "the pl eadi ngs, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and
adm ssions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there
is no genuine issue as to any naterial fact and that the noving party is
entitled to a judgnent as a matter of law." Fed.R Cv.P. 56(c).

Wth respect to Mller's claim the district court determ ned that
there was no genuine issue of naterial fact as to whether UtiliCorp had
scienter in regard to the msappropriations at Aquila Houston prior to his
sol e stock purchase on Novenber 13, 1991. MIller asserts that the
foll owi ng new evidence shows that UtiliCorp had the requisite scienter:
UiliCorp's knowl edge in 1988 that four enployees had been fired for an
al | eged kickback schene at Aquila's Owmmha branch; attenpts by Aquila's
president to gain greater managenent authority in 1990; reported interna
control problens at the Aquila subsidiaries in spring of 1991; an Cctober
31, 1991 tel ephone report froma former Aquila Oraha enpl oyee fired three
years previously, that he had heard of kickbacks and
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bidrigging at Aquila's Houston office; UiliCorp's hiring of a private
group to investigate the runor; an unverified proposition by Marquez to an
unknown bi dder; and Marquez's reportedly expensive wedding trip to Hawaii .

Thus, the nost specific evidence UiliCorp received about the
m sappropriations prior to Mller's stock purchase was that a forner bidder
had been told that soneone el se had overheard Marquez proposition another
bidder. In order to satisfy the requirenent of materiality, it nust be
substantially likely that a reasonable investor would have viewed the
di scl osure of the omtted fact as having significantly altered the total
m x of informati on made avail able. Basic Inc., 485 U S. at 231-32. This
standard is not met with respect to the information known to UtiliCorp at
that tine. Nor is it probable that WiliCorp then had the requisite
scienter intentionally or recklessly to deceive, nanipulate, or defraud
sharehol ders through its financial statenents. See Harris, 787 F.2d at
362; Van Dyke, 873 F.2d at 1100. Accordingly, even if the district court
had reconsidered its ruling in light of appellants' new evidence, it would
have probably not produced a different result. The district court
therefore did not abuse its discretion in denying MIler Rule 60(b)(2)
relief fromits order granting summary judgnment as to his 8 10(b) and Rul e
10b-5 claim See Callanan, 75 F.3d at 1297.

The situation differs as to Al pern, however. The district court had
granted summary judgnent as to Alpern's 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 affirnmative
m sst atenents cl ai m because Al pern had not alleged any nisstatenents after
Decenber 1991, the date a newspaper article stated UtiliCorp knew of the
n sappropriations, and before March 12, 1992, the date of Al pern's | ast
stock purchase. |In their notion for reconsideration, appellants explai ned
that they had nade a typographical error in their conplaint, which stated
that "[o]n or about January 30, 1991, Wili Corp announced that it achieved
record financial results in 1991" and that net incone had increased

21



in 1991 by 25% to $73.5 mllion. Appellants pointed out they m stakenly
referred to WiliCorp's statenent as occurring on January 30, 1991, instead
of 1992. They also asserted that UWiliCorp made other nisleading
statenments on October 31, 1991, Novenber 18, 1991, Decenber 19, 1991

Decenber 23, 1991, January 3, 1992, and January 6, 1992. The district
court neverthel ess concluded that sumary judgment was still appropriate
because appell ants had not set forth adm ssible evidence showi ng a genui ne
issue of material fact as to whether UtiliCorp had scienter prior to
January 30, 1992.

Consi deration of the appellants' evidence woul d probably produce a
different result for Alpern as to whether he had shown an issue of materia
fact on the date of scienter. During January 1992, Uili Corp | aunched an
extensive investigation into the allegations, utilizing personnel fromits
accounting firm outside law firm and own conpany. By January 22,
UiliCorp's investigation team had discovered specific acts by Marquez
whi ch, according to WiliCorp's attorneys, justified and even conpelled his
termnation. Marquez was fired two days later, and Aquila's president was
repri manded. Evidence of w ongdoi ng included cancell ed checks indicating
nearly $90, 000 in kickbacks to Marquez on several projects. |In addition
Sheil a McDonal d had provided a detail ed account of how Marquez acconpli shed
t hese ki ckbacks. Blackwell estimated by January 29 that the extent of the
ki ckbacks could reach up to four to five mllion dollars.

During this tine period UtiliCorp nmade nunerous statenments of
continued financial success and public offerings, and the withheld
i nformati on about the | osses nay have been sufficiently significant to a
reasonabl e i nvestor so as to render these statenents materially m sl eading.
See Basic Inc., 485 U S at 240. WiliCorp had comenced its third public
offering on January 22, 1992, preceded by Geen's proclamtion that

UiliCorp's performance in 1991 was "another nilestone." On January 30,
1992, Green had
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announced WiliCorp's 1991 net incone had increased 25%to $73.5 million
reflecting Aquila's strategic acquisitions and "the soundness of
UiliCorp's growth strategy . . . [of] reducing risk through expansion."

A reasonabl e sharehol der may have inferred fromthese representations
that UtiliCorp and its subsidiaries would continue to prosper in 1992
UiliCorp's January 30, 1992 statenent and subsequent statenents prior to
its June 1992 disclosure nmay therefore have violated its "ever-present duty
not to mslead." 1d. at 240 n.18. Wether or not UiliCorp's actions were
protected by good faith reliance on its legal and financial advisors is not
at issue on this appeal

Since the appellants' evidence would probably produce a different
result as to Alpern's claimfor affirmative m sstatenents, the district
court abused its discretion in not reconsidering UiliCorp's notion for
partial summary judgnent in light of this evidence. The order denying
reconsideration as to Alpern's claimis therefore reversed and renanded.

C.

Appel l ants al so claimthat they should have been permtted to correct
the typographical error in their conplaint pursuant to Rule 60(a).
Al'though WiliCorp conceded that this type of error was generally subject
to Rule 60(a) relief, the district court denied it. The court noted that
it had previously disnissed Alpern's omssions claimafter UtiliCorp had
paid $368.36 to the clerk of court, covering the anmount Al pern paid for
stock bought in March 1992. Alpern's affirnmative nisstatenents clai mwas
also limted to this March stock purchase, according to the district court,
since he had not shown that UiliCorp had scienter prior to his other stock
purchases. Thus, even if the conplaint were corrected to reflect that
UiliCorp's financial statenent had occurred on
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January 30, 1992, the court concluded that Al pern could not recover damages
because of UWiliCorp's tendered offer. The court therefore refused to
grant the notion for reconsideration

Rule 60(a) allows relief froma judgnent based on clerical m stakes
in the record. Although the rule usually applies to errors by the court
or clerk, it may also be used to correct nistakes by the parties. Pattiz
v. Schwartz, 386 F.2d 300, 303 (8th Cir. 1968). Where the parties'
intentions are clearly defined and "all the court need do is enploy the

judicial eraser to obliterate a nmechanical or mathematical m stake, the

nodi fication will be allowed.” Matter of West Texas Marketing Corp., 12
F.3d 497, 504-05 (5th Cr. 1994) (typographical errors correctable by Rule
60(a)). Denials of Rule 60(a) notions are reviewed for abuse of

di scretion. L.Z. v. Parrish, 733 F.2d 585, 588 (8th Cir. 1984).

UiliCorp's tendered offer of paynent to Al pern was not a proper
basis to deny relief under Rule 60(a). Al pern was not required to accept
it. Judgnent should be entered against a putative class representative on
a defendant's offer of paynment only where class certification has been
properly denied and the offer satisfies the representative's entire demand
for injuries and costs of the suit. See Rand v. Mnsanto Co., 926 F.2d
596, 601 (7th Gr. 1991) (vacating judgnent inposing defendant's offer on

named representative where district court inproperly denied class
certification); conpare Zimerman v. Bell, 800 F.2d 386, 390 (4th GCir.
1986) (affirmng denial of class certification and dism ssal of claimbased

on defendant's tendered offer fully satisfying plaintiff's danmages);
conpare Kline v. WIf, 702 F.2d 400, 404-06 (2nd Cir. 1983) (vacating
judgnment inposing settlenent upon putative class representative that

deprived himof relief to which he could be entitled after trial).

This rule protects a class representative's responsibilities to the
putative class nenbers frombeing terninated by a
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defendant's attenpts to pay off the representative's clains. See Roper v.
Consurve, Inc., 578 F.2d 1106, 1110 (5th Gr. 1978), aff'd sub. nom
Deposit Quaranty Nat. Bank, Jackson, Mss. v. Roper, 445 U S. 326 (1980).
Acceptance of a tendered offer "need not be nandated," as then Justice

Rehnqui st expl ai ned, "since the defendant has not offered all that has been
requested in the conplaint (i.e., relief for the class)." Deposit Quaranty
Nat. Bank, 445 U.S. at 341 (concurring opinion).

The district court abused its discretion in not permtting appellants
to correct the typographical error in their conplaint pursuant to Rule
60(a). As explained below, class certification should not have been deni ed
on the grounds asserted. Alpern properly rejected WiliCorp's offer of
payment because it only covered his individual claimand did not provide
any requested relief for the class. 1d.

Al pern and MIler sought to represent a class alleging &8 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 violations of UiliCorp comon stock purchasers between
Septenber 1, 1990 and June 15, 1992. The court denied certification
because it had di sm ssed nost of appellants' clains on summary judgnent and
found Al pern's renaining claimatypical of the putative class. Appellants
contend that their clains were inproperly dismssed and that Al pern is
typical of the class purchasers because he was an active investor who
relied on the integrity of the market price. Denial of class certification
is reviewed for abuse of discretion. DeBoer v. Mellon Mortg. Co., 64 F.3d
1171, 1175 (8th Cir. 1995), cert. denied sub nom, Mchael Thonmas Crehan
V. Gretchen DeBoer, No. 95-1322, 1996 W. 79875 (U. S. Apr. 22, 1996).

Rul e 23(a) permts class certification where
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(1) the class is so nunerous that joinder of all nenbers is
i npracticable, (2) there are questions of law or fact conmon to the
class, (3) the clains or defenses of the representative parties are
typical of the clains or defenses of the class, and (4) the
representative parties wll fairly and adequately protect the
i nterests of the class.

Fed. R Gv.P. 23(a); see also General Tel ephone Co. of Southwest v. Fal con,
457 U. S. 147, 156 (1982). A class representative "nmust be part of the
class and 'possess the sane interest and suffer the sane injury' as the

class nenbers." 1d. (citations onmitted).

The district court never discussed in its initial denial of
certification, or on reconsideration, whether the proposed class satisfied
the el enments of nunerosity, comonality of |egal or factual questions, and
fair and adequate representation. |In its ruling on the request it noted
that every claimexcept for Al pern's omi ssions claimhad been dism ssed,
and the denial of reconsideration of the certification request was
presumabl y based on the disnissal of all clains.

Di smissal of Alpern's clains nust be reevaluated in light of the
evi dence subnmitted for reconsideration.® The district court did not cite
any authority to support its finding that Alpern's clains were not typical
of the class clains under Rule 23(a)(3). Its only explanation in the
initial denial order for its ruling was that "A pern did not make any
UiliCorp stock purchases on the open nmarket" during the rel evant peri od.

Typicality under Rule 23(a)(3) neans that there are "other nenbers
of the class who have the sane or simlar grievances as the plaintiff."
Donal dson v. Pillsbury Co., 554 F.2d 825, 830 (8th Gr.), cert. denied, 434
U S. 856 (1977). The burden is "fairly

°Since a class representative nust be part of the class,
M Il er cannot represent the class because his claimwas properly
di sm ssed.

26



easily net so long as other class nmenbers have clains simlar to the naned
plaintiff." DeBoer, 64 F.3d at 1174. Factual variations in the individua
clains will not nornmally preclude class certification if the claimarises
fromthe sanme event or course of conduct as the class clainms, and gives
rise to the sane | egal or renedial theory. Donal dson, 554 F.2d at 831;
see, e.q., DeBoer, 64 F.3d at 1174-75 (typicality requirenment satisfied
even t hough class nenbers held different nortgage instrunents but sought

sane formof relief); accord Hoxworth v. Blinder, Robinson & Co.., Inc., 980
F.2d 912, 923 (3rd Cr. 1992) (affirmng over typicality objections a class
of securities investors who had purchased or sold any one of twenty-one

securities during a certain period); see generally 1 Herbert B. Newberg,

Newberg on Class Actions: A Minual for Goup Litigation at Federal and
State Levels 8§ 3.13, at 167 (2d ed. 1985) (claimtypical if it challenges
t he sane unl awful conduct affecting naned plaintiff and putative class).

Al pern's participation in the DRIP plan does not render his clains
atypi cal of a class including open market purchasers. Al pern alleges that
UiliCorp's financial statenments were nisleading because it did not
di scl ose the misappropriation at Aquila until June 1992. The sane set of
events leading up to the June disclosure underlie the clains of the other
putative class nenbers. In addition, Al pern's claiminvokes the sane | ega
theory -- that WiliCorp violated 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by making
knowi ngly m sl eadi ng statenents or omissions prior to his stock purchases.

Al pern's grievances are thus typical of the class clains because both
challenge UtiliCorp's actions and course of conduct with respect to the
Aquil a msappropriation as violations of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The fact
t hat damage calcul ations might differ slightly for DRIP and open market
purchasers is a minor matter in conparison with these fundanenta
simlarities. See DeBoer, 64 F.3d at 1174; see also In re VMS Securities

Litigation,
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136 F. R D. 466, 475-77 (N.D. Il1l. 1991) (certifying global class of open
nmar ket and di vi dend rei nvestnent plan purchasers because defendants ni sl ed
all investors by painting an overly optimstic financial picture in
violation of 8 10(b)); In re Lilco Securities Litigation, 111 F. R D. 663,
673 (E.D.N. Y. 1986) (certifying class of all stock purchasers during

securities period which included a dividend reinvestnent pl an
representative).

UiliCorp suggests that Al pern is atypical because a presunption of
reliance on the integrity of the narket price does not apply in his case.
The case WiliCorp cites in support, In re Bank of Boston Corp. Securities

Litigation, 762 F. Supp. 1525, 1533 (D.Mass. 1991), involved a passive
di vidend reinvestnent plan investor who joined out of convenience. In
contrast, Alpern testified in deposition that he reviewed UiliCorp's
quarterly and annual reports in order to decide whether to reinvest in
UiliCorp's stock. He also stated that he joined the DRIP plan partly
because he woul d receive a discount fromthe nmarket price, which indicates
at | east sone reliance on the integrity of that price. Since all investors
have a profit incentive to pay attention to issuers' disclosures, as the
Suprene Court has explained, it is "hard to inmagine that there ever is a
buyer or seller who does not rely on nmarket integrity." Basic Inc., 485
U S at 246-47 (citation omtted).

The district court abused its discretion in denying certification of
the 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 class for the reasons on which it relied and in
denying the notion for reconsideration. On remand, the district court
shoul d consider the requirenents of Rule 23(a) in light of the evidence in
the record, including that subnitted for reconsideration

V.

Finally, Al pern argues that the district court erred in
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granting WiliCorp's notion for summary judgnent as to his §8 11 claim and
in denying certification of the & 11 subclass. Al pern alleges he
reinvested his dividend paynents in UiliCorp common stock seven tines
bet ween Septenber 12, 1990 and March 12, 1992, based on UiliCorp's
Septenber 4, 1990 DRI P prospectus and subsequent financial updates. He
contends that these UtiliCorp statenents were false and nisleading, in
violation of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U S.C. § 77k,
because they did not disclose the nisappropriations. The district court
granted summary judgnent in favor of UtiliCorp after deternining that
Al pern could not recover any statutory damages. Since the § 11 clains
rai sed on behalf of Al pern and the subcl ass had been disnissed, the court
al so held that the appellants' notion for certification of a subclass was
noot, and | ater denied reconsideration of the certification order

As noted, Rule 56(c) provides that sumary judgnent is appropriate
if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admi ssions
on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no
genui ne issue as to any naterial fact and that the noving party is entitled
to a judgnent as a matter of law" Fed.ROv.P. 56(c). A grant of summary
judgnent is reviewed de novo with all inferences fromthe evi dence drawn
in favor of the nonnoving party. See Reich v. ConAgra, lInc., 987 F.2d
1357, 1359 (8th Cir. 1993). Summary judgnent is inappropriate "[i]f
reasonable mnds could differ as to the inport of the evidence." Anderson
v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242, 250 (1986).

Section 11 of the 1933 Securities Act provides for recovery of
damages from certain issuers of registered securities when a purchaser
relies on false or nisleading information in a registration statenent. 15
USC 8§ 77k(a); Herman & Maclean v. Huddl eston, 459 U. S. 375, 381 (1983).
M sstatenents in the DRIP prospectus can be actionable under § 11 because

t he prospectus was
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incorporated by UiliCorp's August 1990 Registration Statenment. See In re
AnnTaylor Stores Securities Litigation, 807 F. Supp. 990, 993 (S.D.N.Y.
1992). A claimunder 8 11 does not require proof of reliance, causation,

or scienter, but only materiality and danages. See Ross v. Warner, No. 77
ClV. 243, 1980 W. 1474, at *7 (D.C.N. Y. Dec. 11, 1980).

Danages are neasured according to one of three fornulas specified in
8 11(e). The relevant neasure of danmages for Alpern's claimis contained
within the follow ng provision:

The suit authorized under subsection (a) of this section may be to
recover such damages as shall represent the difference between the
ampunt paid for the security (not exceeding the price at which the
security was offered to the public) and (1) the val ue thereof as of
the tinme such suit was brought.

15 U.S.C. 8 77k(e) (enphasis added).?

Since Alpern still possesses his stock, he can recover danmges under
8 11(e)(1) only if his purchase price was higher than the security's val ue
"as of the tinme such suit was brought." 1d. The parties disagree as to
whi ch date should determine "the time such suit was brought."

UiliCorp notes that the only suit nmentioned in 8§ 11(e) is "the suit
aut hori zed under subsection (a)" of § 11, 15 US. C 8§ 77k(a), which
provides a cause of action for a nmisleading registration statenent. It
therefore argues that the district court correctly chose the date of August
6, 1992, because that is when Al pern added a claimauthorized by § 11(a)
to his conplaint. Since the price of WiliCorp stock on August 6, 1992 was
$27. 25 per share, and the highest price Al pern paid was $26. 885 per share,

The other two neasures of damages provi ded apply when the
security has been sold, either before or after the action is
filed. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 77k(e).
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Al pern woul d not have suffered any statutory danages if the "tine such suit
was brought" refers to August 6.

Al pern responds that his 8 11 claimrel ates back, under Fed.R Civ.P.
15(c)(2), to the date on which his conplaint was filed on June 17, 1992.
He also argues that UtiliCorp's theory would encourage a plaintiff to
"danmage shop" by waiting to file an independent 8§ 11 claimafter the stock
price drops further. The statute nust therefore refer to the date when the
securities action was conmenced, not when an anended conpl aint was fil ed.
The relevant date for neasuring his damages is accordingly June 17, 1992,
the date he filed his initial conplaint, alleging securities violations
under 8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Although the value of UiliCorp stock on
June 17, 1992 is not clearly stated in the record, the price per share was
$22.88 on June 16, 1992.

The neaning of the term "the tinme such suit was brought” nust be
examned first in light of the statutory |anguage. See Landreth Tinber Co
v. Landreth, 471 U S. 681, 685 (1985). Section 11(e) specifically sets
forth the nethod of cal cul ating damages in every action brought under § 11
see McMahan & Co. v. Werehouse Entertainnent. Inc., 65 F.3d 1044, 1048 (2d
Cir. 1995), but it does not define "the tinme such suit was brought."!

UiliCorp has not cited any case which has held that "the tinme such
suit was brought" neans the date an individual 8 11 claimis filed, but
there are cases which touch on the triggering filing date for neasuring
damages under § 11(e)(1). See, e.d., In re Fortune Systens Securities

Litigation, 680 F. Supp. 1360, 1369

1The legislative history al so does not speak to what
Congress intended by "the tinme such suit was brought." The
current version of 8 11(e) was enacted in the 1934 anendnents to
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933. A 1934 House Report
provi des several reasons for various anmendnents, but all concern
other provisions in 8 11(e). See H R REP. NO 1838, 73rd Cong.,
2d Sess. 41-42 (1934).

31



(N.D. Cal. 1987) (neasuring damages fromdate plaintiffs filed an earlier
securities action in state court); Gossman v. WAste Managenent. Inc., 589
F. Supp. 395, 415 (N.D.Ill. 1984) (neasuring danages fromdate plaintiff
filed initial lawsuit with a 8 11 claimthat was consolidated with a later
8§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 case); see also Inre Wrlds of Whnder Sec. Litig.,
814 F. Supp. 850, 866 (N.D. Cal. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part on
ot her grounds, 35 F.3d 1407 (9th Gr. 1994).12

A case which discusses the statutory conmencenent tine is Beecher v.
Able, 435 F. Supp. 397 (S.D.N. Y. 1977). The court there chose the date
that the first of three consolidated § 11 actions was filed as "the tine
such suit was brought." Id. at 402. It explained that the entire
plaintiff class had been contenplated at the tinme the first action was
filed and that using that filing date could mininmze date shopping in
future cases, thereby limting nultiple identical suits. 1d.

Al pern argues that his § 11 danages nay be cal cul ated fromthe date
he filed his initial conplaint based on the relation back doctrine of Rule
15(c) (2). He reasons that because his 8§ 11 claim arises fromthe sane
nm sappropriations as his 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claim and because
UiliCorp had the sane duty to disclose material facts in order to render
its financial statenents not nisleading, his anended conpl aint dates back
to the filing date of his initial conplaint on June 17, 1992. UWiliCorp
responds that the district court properly concluded that Rule 15(c)(2) has
no bearing on this issue because it would only pernit relation back of

12The § 11 issue in In re Wrlds of Winder related to a | oss
causati on defense on which the circuit court reversed. 35 F.3d
at 1421-23. In its 8 11 discussion the district court had stated
in passing that the neasure of damages is "the difference between
the amount paid for the security and its price at either the tine
it was sold or the date the Section 11 claimwas filed." 814 F.
Supp. at 866. There was no di scussion about the neaning of "the
time such suit was brought."”
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the 8 11 claimfor statute of linitations purposes.

Fed. R Gv.P. 15(c)(2) provides that an anended conpl aint rel ates back
to the date of the original conplaint where "the claimor defense asserted
in the anmended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or
occurrence set forth or attenpted to be set forth in the original
pl eading." The basic inquiry is whether the anended conplaint is related
to the general fact situation alleged in the original pleading. I|n re
Bel | anca Aircraft Corp., 850 F.2d 1275, 1283 (8th Cir. 1988).

Since the purpose of Rule 15(c) is to pernit cases to be decided on
their nerits, see Qidley v. Qunni ngham 550 F.2d 551, 553 (8th Gr. 1977),
it has been liberally construed. Thus, relation back has been pernitted

of anendnments that change the legal theory of the action, see, e.aq.,
Donnelly v. Yellow Freight System lInc., 874 F.2d 402 (7th GCr. 1989),
aff'd on other grounds, 494 U S. 280 (1990), add other clains arising out
of the sane transaction or occurrence, see, e.d., Federal Deposit Ins.
Corp. v. Bennett, 898 F.2d 477 (5th Cir. 1990), or increase the anmount of
danages clained. See, e.qg., Wn T. Burton, Inc. v. Reed Roller Bit Co.,
214 F. Supp. 84 (WD.La. 1963).

Al though the relation back doctrine is typically applied wth
reference to statutes of limtations, courts have utilized the concept for
ot her purposes. See, e.qg., Hanmilton v. 1st Source Bank, 895 F.2d 159, 161
(4th Cir.) (to neasure back pay), rev'd on other grounds, 928 F.2d 86
(1990) (en banc);?*® Sunkyong Intern. v.

Bln Ham Iton, the plaintiff filed an initial conplaint
al l eging discrimnatory discharge because of age, and then
anmended it sonme three nonths later to add a cl ai mof pay
di scrim nation based on evidence disclosed during pretri al
di scovery. 895 F.2d at 161. Under the federal age
discrimnation statute, Hamlton's recovery of back pay for a
nonwi | I ful violation of pay discrimnation was limted to two
years prior to the filing of a conplaint. 1d. at 165. 1In the
ori ginal panel opinion, the Fourth
Crcuit chose the date Hamlton filed his initial conplaint for
pur poses of determ ning the date when the back pay period would
begin to run. Both clains arose out of the same allegedly
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Anderson Land & Livestock Co., 828 F.2d 1245, 1252-53 (8th Cr. 1987) (to
cure defect in service of process); Fifty Associates v. Prudenti al
| nsurance Co. of Anerica, 446 F.2d 1187, 1193 (9th Cir. 1970) (to confer
retroactive jurisdiction on the district court); see also 3 J. Moore

Moore's Federal Practice § 15.15[5] (1996) (collecting cases).

Alpern's § 11 claim added in the anmended conpl ai nt, was based on the
sanme transactions, occurrences, and conduct alleged in the original
conpl ai nt. Alpern's first conplaint alleged 8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
viol ations based on materially msleading financial statenents begi nning
in January 1992. Shortly thereafter, UiliCorp itself filed a conplaint
agai nst Marquez and Stegall, clainmng that they began enbezzling conpany
funds from Septenber 1, 1990. Wen Al pern anended his conplaint within two
months of filing his initial pleading, he enlarged the class period to
enconpass the period from Septenber 1990. Alpern's 8 11 clai mwas based
on the sane misappropriations alleged in the original conplaint, however.
Both of his clains asserted that he was unaware of the m sappropriations
and that WiliCorp artificially inflated its stock prices by dissem nating
materially m sl eading statenents and/or onmitting to state naterial facts
necessary to nmake its statenents not mi sl eading.

O her considerations also favor the relation back of the anmended
conplaint. There is no indication of date shopping, the concern identified
in Beecher. 435 F. Supp. at 402. Nothing suggests that Al pern sought to
capitalize on a further drop in stock prices by waiting for a nore
favorable date to file his § 11

di scrim natory enpl oyer practices, and discovery of the pay
di fference was no surprise to the defendant bank because it knew
about its own pay scales. 1d.
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claim Rather, he anended his claimless than two nonths after filing his
initial conplaint based on additional information discovered about the sane
underlying occurrences. Since Alpern was a DRIP plan purchaser, UtiliCorp
al so should not have been surprised that Al pern sought to hold it
accountable for its statenents related to the DRIP prospectus. See In re
Bel | anca Aircraft Corp., 850 F.2d at 1283. Finally, it is unlikely that
UiliCorp's defense on the nerits will be unfairly prejudiced, and it may

al so assert reasonable inquiry and good faith belief defenses against a
8 11 claim See Versyss Inc. v. Coopers and Lybrand, 982 F.2d 653, 655
(1st Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 508 U S. 974 (1993).

Under the circunstances Al pern's anended conplaint relates back to
the filing date of the original conplaint under Rule 15(c)(2). That date,

June 17, 1992, is "the tinme such suit was brought" for purposes of
cal cul ati ng damages under § 11(e)(1). Since Al pern does not indicate the
value of UtiliCorp stock on that date, the district court will need to
determ ne the value of the stock on June 17, 1992. |If that value is | ess

than the purchase price of $26.885 per share, Alpern may be entitled to
recover 8§ 11 danamges and should be permitted to proceed with that claim

The district court will also need to reconsider certification of the § 11
subcl ass.
V.
In summary, we affirmin part and reverse in part. The district

court's denial of reconsideration and grant of summary judgnent on Mller's
8 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claimare affirnmed. The grant of summary judgnent
on Alpern's clains, the denial of certification of the class and subcl ass,
and the denial of the related notions for reconsideration are reversed.
The case is remanded for further proceedi ngs consistent with this opinion.
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